THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Diane Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-18-00729
Appellate Case No. 2023-001601

RECEIVED

Oct 31 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Portfolio Recovery Associates, LLC Assignee of
Synchrony Bank/HH Gregg, Petitioner,

v.

Jennifer Campney, Respondent,

and

Jennifer Campney, Third-party Plaintiff,

v.

Cooling & Winter, LLC, Third-party Defendant,
of whom Jennifer Campney is the Respondent.

BRIEF OF THE PETITIONER

Caren D. Enloe, NC State Bar No. 17394
P.O. Box 176010
Raleigh, NC 27619
(919) 250-2000
cenloe@smithdebnamlaw.com
Admitted Pro Hac Vice

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in reversing the circuit court's finding that Petitioner was not required to provide a Notice of Right to Cure where, as here, the Petitioner is the assignee of a national bank?

II. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that Petitioner was required to provide a Notice of Right to Cure where, as here, the Petitioner's assignor's obligations to provide the same were preempted by the National Bank Act and its implementing regulations?

III. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in reversing the circuit court's finding that Petitioner was not a creditor for purposes of a Notice of Right to Cure where, as here, any obligation to provide a notice of right to cure arose prior to the assignment?

IV. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in reversing the circuit court's finding that Petitioner was not required to provide a Notice of Right to Cure where, as here, the consumer's ongoing failure to pay, coupled with the federally mandated charge off of the debt, significantly impaired payment and/or performance?

V. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in finding that Petitioner was required to provide a Notice of Right to Cure where, as here, the Petitioner's assignor had sent six months of periodic statements which substantially complied with the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-110 prior to charge off?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 4, 2017, the petitioner, Portfolio Recovery Associates, LLC ("PRA"), sued Jennifer Campney ("Campney") to collect on an account stated arising from a charged off credit card balance that it had purchased from the original creditor and credit card issuer, Synchrony

Bank. (App. pp. 88–106). The original creditor, Synchrony Bank, is a national bank.¹ PRA is a debt buyer. (App. p. 115, ¶ 42). Campney filed a *pro se* Answer on February 8, 2017. (App. p. 107). On March 13, 2018, Campney, through counsel, filed her First Amended Answer and Counterclaims.² (App. pp. 108–118). Those counterclaims include the claim at issue here (the “First Counterclaim”), which alleges PRA violated the South Carolina Consumer Protection Code (the “SCCPC”) because PRA did not send a notice of right to cure³ to Campney before accelerating the debt and filing suit. (App. pp. 111–112).

On October 23, 2019, a bench trial was held and judgment was entered in favor of PRA on all issues. (App. pp. 14–24). The relevant testimony and evidence presented at trial demonstrated that Campney had an HH Gregg credit card issued by Synchrony Bank. (App. p. 15; App. p. 255, lines 8–14). At trial, the circuit court found that Synchrony Bank sent monthly billing statements to Campney with a specified due date and Campney made “payments on the account without disputing any charges found on the billing statement.” (App. p. 15). Copies of those periodic statements for the period beginning May 23, 2014 through May 16, 2015 were entered into evidence. (App. p. 14; *see also* App. pp. 327–375). Campney testified that she “believe[d]” she received billing statements on the account. (App. p. 255, lines 8–10; *but see* App. p. 256, lines 10–18 (on redirect, Campney could not recall the specifics of which statements she received)).

¹ *See* FDIC BankFind, Synchrony Bank (disclosing that Synchrony Bank is a federally-chartered savings bank whose primary federal regulator is the OCC), <https://banks.data.fdic.gov/bankfind-suite/bankfind/details/27314>.

² Additionally, Campney brought third party claims against PRA’s then counsel of record, Cooling & Winter, LLC. Those claims were resolved in favor of the third-party defendant by the trial court and were not appealed. (App. p. 20).

³ PRA refers to sections 37-5-109 through 37-5-111 of the SCCPC collectively as the right to cure provisions, as they govern default, notice of right to cure upon default, and the opportunity to cure default, respectively.

The monthly statements entered into evidence additionally indicated that the last payment was made on the account on October 15, 2014. (App. p. 157, lines 20–23; *see also* App. pp. 353–355). On May 22, 2015, Synchrony charged off the account. (App. p. 187, lines 18–21). On June 20, 2015, PRA purchased Campney’s charged-off account balance from Synchrony Bank. (App. pp. 142, lines 5–13; 324, 390).

Based upon the evidence presented, the circuit court found in favor of PRA on all claims. (App. pp. 14–24). Judgment was entered in favor of PRA on its account stated claim for \$4,236.78 and filing fees totaling \$80.00 for a total judgment of \$4,316.78. (App. p. 20). In doing so, the trial court concluded that “an account stated cause of action was established by the Plaintiff (or Plaintiff’s assignor) by mailing monthly billing statements with a specified due date, and the Defendant making payments on the account without disputing any charges found on the billing statement.” (App. p. 15).

The circuit court additionally dismissed all of Campney’s counterclaims and third-party claims. (*Id.*). Regarding Campney’s contention that PRA’s failure to send a right to cure notice constituted a violation of the SCCPC, the circuit court dismissed Campney’s claim for three reasons. First, the SCCPC’s right to cure provisions were not applicable to the debt at issue. (App. pp. 17–18). Secondly, PRA was not a creditor for purposes of the right to cure provisions. (App. p. 18). And finally, due to the age of the account and its status as a charged off debt, neither PRA nor its assignor had any expectation that payments were being made or would be made on the account. (*Id.*). On December 23, 2019, Campney filed motions to alter or amend the judgment, which were denied on May 26, 2020. (App. pp. 79–86). Campney appealed the circuit court’s Trial Order dated December 11, 2019 (App. pp. 14–24) and Rule 59 Order dated May 26, 2020 (App.

pp. 79–80).⁴ See also *Portfolio Recovery Assocs., LLC v. Campney*, 441 S.C. 36, 45–46, 892 S.E.2d 321, 326 (Ct. App. 2023) (reciting procedural posture of case on appeal).

The case was heard on oral argument May 1, 2023 and an order was entered August 23, 2023. *Portfolio Recovery Assocs., LLC v. Campney*, 441 S.C. 36, 892 S.E.2d 321 (Ct. App. 2023). The Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment in favor of PRA on its account stated claim and affirmed dismissal of Campney’s counterclaims related to the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 *et seq.* (the “FDCPA”), the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-110 *et seq.* (the “SCUTPA”), and negligence per se. *Id.* The Court of Appeals, however, reversed the circuit court’s “determination in favor of PRA on the dismissal of Campney’s counterclaim related to the SCCPC’s right to cure notification” (the “First Counterclaim”) and remanded that claim to the circuit court “to determine the amount of set-off⁵ and attorney’s fees, if any Campney is entitled.” *Id.* at 53, 892 S.E.2d at 330.

On September 6, 2023, PRA timely filed its Petition for Rehearing seeking rehearing as to whether PRA was required to provide the consumer with a notice of right to cure pursuant to S.C. Code. Ann. § 37-5-110 under the facts presented in this matter. (App. pp. 582–596). PRA contends that the Court of Appeals failed to consider: (a) whether the assignor’s obligation to provide a notice of right to cure (and therefore, PRA’s obligation) was preempted by federal law; and (b) whether the obligation to send a notice of right to cure exists where the consumer’s ongoing failure to pay significantly impairs the prospect of payment or performance. (App. pp. 583–584); See also S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-109(2). PRA additionally contends that the Court of Appeals

⁴ As noted previously, Campney’s third-party claims were not appealed.

⁵ The Court of Appeals determined that any claim for affirmative relief under the SCCPC’s right to cure provision was foreclosed by the statute of limitations, but a right to set off survived pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-205. *Id.* at 53, 892 S.E.2d at 330.

erred by imposing obligations on an assignee that arose *prior* to assignment in contravention of the plain meaning of S.C. Code Ann. § 37-1-301(13) and by overlooking PRA’s alternative argument that the periodic statements sent by Synchrony Bank met the right to cure requirements set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-110. (App. p. 584). On September 15, 2023, the Court of Appeals denied the Petition for Rehearing. (App. pp. 599–600).

On October 12, 2023, Petitioner timely filed its Petition for Discretionary Review, seeking review of the Court of Appeals decision as to the First Counterclaim and presenting five issues for the court’s consideration. The Petition was allowed by Order entered on October 3, 2024. *Portfolio Recovery Assocs., LLC v. Campney*, S.C. Sup. Ct. Order dated Oct. 3, 2024. The Order did not set forth any limitations on the questions to be considered by the Court, and therefore, all five issues remain before the court for consideration. *See* Rule 242(i), SCACR.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This matter presents novel issues of law which are subject to review de novo. *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 411, 526 S.E.2d 716, 718–19 (2000). Moreover, each of the five questions presented concern issues of statutory interpretation which are questions of law subject to de novo review by this Court. *Coastal Fed. Credit Union v. Brown*, 417 S.C. 544, 548, 790 S.E.2d 417, 419 (Ct. App. 2019) (quoting *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 109, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008)). Accordingly, all issues before the court are subject to being reviewed de novo.

ARGUMENT

As acknowledged by the Court of Appeals, this matter presents novel questions of law, including whether an assignee of a national bank is required to send a notice of right to cure on a charged off credit card account. *Portfolio Recovery Assocs., LLC*, 441 S.C. at 46-47, 892 S.E.2d

at 326. That question has never been answered by the South Carolina courts and has only been addressed once by a federal district court sitting in South Carolina—a decision which is in direct conflict with that of the Court of Appeals in this matter. *See Bracken v. Simmons First Nat'l Bank*, No. 6:13-1377-TMC-KFM, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 78974, at *12–13 (D.S.C. May 6, 2014), *adopted in full*, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 78025, at *2 (D.S.C. June 9, 2014) (concluding that a consumer credit card is not subject to the SCCPC).

In determining that PRA was required to provide a notice of right to cure, the Court of Appeals erroneously held that adopting PRA's reading of the SCCPC would produce an absurd result—that “no creditor, initial or assignee, would be held liable for violation of the SCCPC's right to cure notice requirement whenever a charged off debt was assigned because an initial creditor would argue it would have no obligation once all their claims to a debtor's account were assigned and an assignee would raise the argument PRA raises.” *Portfolio Recovery Assocs., LLC*, 441 S.C. at 52, 892 S.E.2d at 330. Not so. The Court of Appeals failed to consider that national banks (such as the issuing creditor here) are not subject to state consumer laws which prevent or significantly interfere with the exercise of the national bank's lending powers, including those which concern terms of credit and the right to call a loan due and payable. Moreover, the Court of Appeals failed to give plain meaning to the provisions of the SCCPC regarding the obligations of a creditor and, specifically, *when* and *if* a notice of right to cure is required.

PRA asks this Court to reverse the Court of Appeals and find that PRA was not required to send a right to cure notice under the facts presented in this case. By erroneously interpreting Section 37-5-110 of the SCCPC to require that *all* creditors and their assignees must send a notice of right to cure before accelerating the balance owed on a consumer debt, the Court of Appeals failed to consider longstanding precedent from the United States Supreme Court and federal laws

which unequivocally hold that where, as here, the creditor is a national bank, state laws which interfere with the terms of credit are preempted by federal law. The Court of Appeals likewise erred by imposing obligations on PRA which arose, if at all, prior to PRA's purchase of the account. Additionally, the Court of Appeals erred by failing to consider whether a federally mandated charge off⁶ creates a significant impairment to the prospect of future performance by the consumer such that no notice of right to cure is required. And, to the extent that a notice of right to cure was required (S.C. Code Ann. §§ 37-5-109 through 37-5-111), the Court of Appeals erred in failing to consider whether the periodic statements sent by the original creditor met the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-110 such that no further right to cure was required.

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED BY CONCLUDING THAT PRA WAS REQUIRED TO COMPLY WITH SOUTH CAROLINA'S RIGHT TO CURE PROVISIONS WHERE, AS HERE, THE ORIGINAL CREDIT CARD ISSUER IS A NATIONAL BANK.

The Court of Appeals erred in finding that PRA was required to provide a notice of right to cure where, as here, PRA's assignor was a national bank whose obligations to provide the same were preempted by the National Bank Act⁷ and its implementing regulations. Because PRA "stands in the shoes of its assignor,"⁸ any analysis of PRA's obligation to comply with South Carolina's right to cure provisions necessarily begins with whether its assignor, a nonparty and national bank, was required to comply with the same. For the reasons set forth below, neither PRA nor its assignor were required to send a right to cure notice as the South Carolina right to cure

⁶ To "charge off" a loan means "[t]o treat (an account receivable) as a loss or expense because payment is unlikely." *Charge Off*, BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (11th ed. 2019).

⁷ 12 U.S.C. § 21 *et seq.*

⁸ *Twelfth RMA Partners, L.P. v. Nat'l Safe Corp.*, 335 S.C. 635, 639, 518 S.E.2d 44, 46 (Ct. App. 1999) (quoting *Singletary v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 316 S.C. 199, 201, 447 S.E.2d 869, 870 (Ct. App. 1994)).

provisions are preempted by federal law.

Since its earliest days, the United States Supreme Court has held that states “have no power . . . to retard, impede, burden, or in any manner control” the activities of national banks. *McCulloch v. Maryland*, 17 U.S. 316, 436 (1819). In 1864, Congress enacted the National Bank Act, 12 U.S.C. § 21 *et seq.* (the “NBA”) “for the purpose of establishing a new national banking system that would operate distinctly and separately from the existing system of state banks.” Bank Activities and Operations, 69 Fed. Reg. 1895, 1898 (Jan. 13, 2004); *see also* Bank Activities and Operations; Real Estate Lending and Appraisals, 69 Fed. Reg. 1904, 1907–08 (Jan. 13, 2004) (detailing the significance and importance of national banks being able to conduct banking business pursuant to a consistent, national standard and the potential risks and costs to consumers if national banks are unable to operate under uniform, consistent, and predictable standards). The NBA “expressly affords national banks the powers that they need to organize and operate . . . provides national banks with banking-specific powers . . . [and] expressly authorizes national banks to exercise ‘all such incidental powers as shall be necessary to carry on the business of banking.’” *Cantero v. Bank of Am.*, 602 U.S. 205, 210 (2024) (internal citations omitted). Since enactment of the NBA, the Court has “repeatedly made clear that federal control shields national banking from unduly burdensome and duplicative state regulation.” *Watters v. Wachovia Bank, N.A.*, 550 U.S. 1, 11 (2007); *see also Kennedy v. City First Bank of D.C., N.A.*, 88 A.3d 142, 145 (D.C. 2014) (the intent of the NBA is to relieve national banks from having to meet varying and potentially divergent state law requirements in fifty states).

In 1996, the Supreme Court reaffirmed that the NBA preempts state laws that prevent or “significantly interfere” with a national bank’s powers. *Barnett Bank, N.A. v. Nelson*, 517 U.S. 25, 33 (1996); *see also Cantero v. Bank of Am.*, 602 U.S. 205 (2024). Since then, Congress has

codified this preemption standard. 12 U.S.C. § 25b. Congress likewise has expressly empowered the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (the “OCC”) to preempt state laws which prevent or significantly interfere with the exercise by a national bank of its powers. *See* 12 U.S.C. §§ 25b and 43; *see also Wachovia Bank, N.A. v. Burke*, 414 F.3d 305, 321 (2d Cir. 2005).

To further clarify the obligations of national banks in the wake of *Barnett Bank*, the OCC⁹ issued a regulation, 12 C.F.R. § 7.4008, that clarifies the applicability of state laws to national banks’ operations. Bank Activities and Operations; Real Estate Lending and Appraisals, 69 Fed. Reg. 1904, 1904–05 (Jan. 13, 2004). The OCC regulation identifies “the types of state laws that are preempted, as well as the types of state laws that generally are not preempted, in the context of national bank lending, deposit-taking, and other Federally-authorized activities.” *Id.*

Pertinent to this case, 12 C.F.R. § 7.4008(d) preempts state laws which interfere with the terms of credit. Specifically, national banks may “make non-real estate loans *without regard to state law limitations* concerning,” among other things “[t]he terms of credit, including the schedule for repayment of principal and interest, amortization of loans, balance, payments due, minimum payments, or term to maturity of the loan, *including the circumstances under which a loan may be called due and payable upon the passage of time or a specified event external to the loan.*” 12 C.F.R. § 7.4008(d)(4) (emphases added).

When read in conjunction with *Barnett Bank*, state laws which impact when a loan may be called due and payable upon the passage of time or a specified event external to the loan apply

⁹ Federal law authorizes the OCC to issue rules that preempt state law in furtherance of its responsibility “to ensure that national banks are able to operate to the full extent authorized under Federal law, notwithstanding inconsistent state restrictions, and in furtherance of their safe and sound operations.” Bank Activities and Operations; Real Estate Lending and Appraisals, 69 Fed. Reg. 1904, 1907 (Jan. 13, 2004); *See also* 12 U.S.C. § 25b(b)(3); 12 U.S.C. § 93a; 12 U.S.C. § 371.

only where they do not “interfere with, or impair [national banks’] efficiency in performing the functions by which they are designed to serve [the Federal] Government.” Bank Activities and Operations; Real Estate Lending and Appraisals, 69 Fed. Reg. 1904, 1910 n.48 (Jan. 13, 2004). “By vesting national banks . . . with this authority, the NBA ‘facilitates [their] ability to operate lending programs on a nationwide basis, a characteristic fundamental to national banks since their inception[.]’” *Cohen v. Capital One Funding, LLC*, 489 F. Supp. 3d 33, 48 (E.D.N.Y. 2020). The Court of Appeals’ decision conflicts with governing federal law and established United States Supreme Court precedent and should be reversed.

A. The National Bank Act Preempts Application of the South Carolina Right to Cure Provisions Where the Credit Card Was Issued by a National Bank.

PRA’s assignor, Synchrony Bank, is a national bank.¹⁰ As such, Synchrony Bank is governed by the NBA and the OCC regulations described above. *See, e.g., Nationsbank of N.C., N.A. v. Variable Annuity Life Ins. Co.*, 513 U.S. 251, 256–57 (1995); *see also Fid. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. de la Cuesta*, 458 U.S. 141, 153 (1982) (holding that federal regulations, including those promulgated by the OCC pursuant to the NBA, “have no less pre-emptive effect than federal statutes.”). State consumer laws which prevent or significantly interfere with a national bank’s exercise of its powers, including its right to call a loan due, are preempted. 12 U.S.C. § 25b(b)(1)(B). *See also Barnett Bank*, 517 U.S. at 33 (1996); 12 C.F.R. § 7.4008(d)(4).

As a national bank, Synchrony Bank was not required to provide a notice of right to cure because the SCCPC’s notice of right to cure provisions are *exactly* the type of state law which the NBA and 12 C.F.R. § 7.4008 preempt. Section 37-5-111(1) of the SCCPC prohibits a creditor from “*accelerat[ing] maturity of the unpaid balance of the obligation . . . until twenty days after*

¹⁰ *See supra* note 1.

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