THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**

**Dec 12 2024**

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Diane S. Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001601

Portfolio Recovery Associates, LLC  
Assignee of Synchrony Bank/HH Gregg,  
Petitioner

v.

Jennifer Campney, Respondent

and

Jennifer Campney, Third-Party Plaintiff

v.

Cooling & Winter, LLC, Third-party Defendant,  
of whom Jennifer Campney is the Respondent

**BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT**

John R. Cantrell, Jr., SC Bar # 10309  
Cantrell Legal PC  
108 Phillips Ct.  
St. Matthews, SC 29135-8582  
(843) 797-2454

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

**3. That a creditor is not required to send a NORTC when the prospect of repayment is significantly impaired.**

PRA makes this new argument in its Brief in Sections II.C. (last sentence) and III (App. pp. 21-24). PRA claims to have first raised this argument in the trial court (PRA Brief p. 21, Sec. III heading, and p. 22, first par.), but that is incorrect. As was noted in the Counter Statement of the Case section earlier, the trial court only listed two reasons for finding that PRA was not required to send a NORTC, the first being that the SCCPC did not apply to a consumer credit card debt collection, which was addressed above, and the second being that PRA was not a creditor, but instead an assignee, so was not required to send a NORTC (App. p. 18), which argument is also addressed above. There is no mention of the phrase “significant impairment” in the trial court’s order. Its first mention in this case was in SCDCA’s amicus brief, where that brief mentioned that significant impairment was one of two ways for a creditor in a consumer credit transaction to enforce a default (App. p. 534), which is likely where PRA got the idea to raise it for the first time in their Response to the SCDCA amicus brief (App. p. 554). PRA’s attempt to claim that this argument was ruled upon by the trial court is incorrect. Instead, the argument was not raised until after final briefing by the parties in the Court of Appeals was complete.

Even if this argument had been raised by PRA in a timely manner, it would have failed, since PRA does not claim significant impairment as a basis for its collection suit in its Complaint. Reference to 37-5-109 reveals that terms of default in a consumer credit transaction are enforceable only if either the consumer fails to make a payment required by the agreement or the agreement provides for default if “the prospect of payment... is significantly impaired” and the creditor carries its burden of proving significant

impairment. In this case, PRA's Complaint is clear that they alleged that the default claimed by PRA was solely Campney's failure to make a payment. (App. p. 88, par. 4), not significant impairment. PRA is bound by the allegations of its Complaint. *Elrod v. All* at 436. Since PRA didn't claim it as an event of default, it also couldn't carry its burden of proving it under 37-5-109. As previously stated above, the doctrine of significant impairment wasn't even raised at the trial court level. Since it wasn't raised at the trial court level, PRA also failed to raise it as a defense in its Reply to Campney's counterclaims. The argument only appeared after final briefing in the Court of Appeals.

**4. That the monthly credit card account statements sent by the original creditor substantially complied with the NORTC statute.**

PRA makes this new argument in its Brief in Section IV (pp. 24-25). There is no finding by the trial court on this issue. It appears that PRA first raised this argument in a footnote in its Response to the SCDCA amicus brief (App. p. 556, footnote 9). Although a careful comparison between the language of S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-110(2), especially the last paragraph in that section, and the language appearing on the account statements (App. pp. 324-367) will show that PRA's claims about complying with the NORTC statute are false, there is no need to address the merits of this issue, since it is a new argument that the Court of Appeals properly chose to ignore. Where the Code provides that a consumer notice or a filing must be made with specific language, it is not sufficient that the creditor has given other information from which the consumer might have guessed its substance. *S.C. Dep't of Consumer Affairs v. Cash Central of S.C., LLC*, 435 S.C. 192, 206-07, 865 S.E. 2d 789, 796-97 (Ct. App. 2021) *cert. den.* June 27, 2023.

## **B. It Would Have Been Improper for the Court of Appeals to Consider PRA's New Arguments**

### **1. PRA waived these new arguments by failing to include them in its Final Court of Appeals Brief.**

As was stated by former Chief Justice Toal in her *Appellate Practice* book, "...the purpose of the [appellant's] reply brief is to reply to any new arguments the respondent may have set forth in his brief. ... Further, under the present rules, the appellant receives notice of the respondent's additional sustaining grounds through the respondent's brief." See Rule 208(b)(2), SCACR ("Respondent's brief may also contain argument asking the court to affirm for any ground appearing in the record as provided by Rule 220(c)."); *I'on, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000) (explaining the process for addressing additional sustaining grounds). Thus, the appellant may address those additional grounds in the reply brief." Jean Hoefer Toal, *et al.*, *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* p. 436 (3<sup>rd</sup> ed. 2016). However, in this case it was not possible for Campney to address these issues in her Reply Brief, since PRA did not include those additional sustaining grounds in its Final Brief filed with the Court of Appeals, but instead waited until about five months later to raise these additional sustaining grounds in its Brief in Response to SCDCA, which meant that Appellant was prejudiced by being unable to include any response to these new arguments in her Reply Brief. SCDCA requested permission to respond to Respondent's Brief in Response to SCDCA, but permission was denied by order of the Court of Appeals on October 18, 2021<sup>4</sup>. Campney was unable to properly respond to these new arguments during the limited amount of time allowed for oral argument, and should not have been required to do so, since PRA failed to raise them in a timely manner. As stated by our

---

<sup>4</sup> PRA has failed to include a copy of this Motion or Order in its Appendix filed with this Court.

Supreme Court in the *I'on* case cited above, “[o]f course, a respondent may abandon an additional sustaining ground under the present rules—just as a respondent could under the former rules—by failing to raise it in the appellate brief.” *I'on* at p. 420. (Note that PRA was the Respondent in the Court of Appeals.) Campney believes, as stated by Chief Justice Toal in her *Appellate Practice* book cited above, that the “appellate brief” referred to in the cite from *I'on* above is PRA’s Final Brief filed in the Court of Appeals, to which Campney could have responded, and not PRA’s Court of Appeals Brief in Response to SCDCA, to which neither Campney nor SCDCA was given an opportunity to file a written response.

**2. The bases for PRA’s new arguments do not appear in the Record on Appeal.**

In footnote 5 of its Court of Appeals Brief in Response to SCDCA, PRA states that the trial court ruled that “no notice of right to cure letter was required to be sent prior to the commencement of this action” (App. p. 553) and then cites a case standing for the proposition that this court may affirm the trial court’s judgment for any reason appearing in the record on appeal. In response, Campney wants the court to note that PRA’s quote was incomplete. What the trial court order actually said was as follows: “Based on the foregoing, the Court finds that no right to cure letter was required to be sent prior to commencement of this action.” (App. p. 18). So, the reasons appearing in the record on appeal for the trial court’s ruling that no right to cure letter was required to be sent are found in the trial court’s order on pages 14-15 of the record on appeal (App. pp. 17-18). There were only two reasons given in the trial court’s order for this ruling. One was the trial court’s reliance upon the conclusory statement in the referenced *Bracken* district

court case about why a consumer credit card is not a consumer loan or a consumer credit transaction under the SCCPC (App. p. 18). The other reason is the trial court's belief that the SCCPC only applies to original creditors and not to assignees (*Ibid.*), which faulty argument is addressed above. Those were the only two reasons that the trial court gave for finding that PRA was not required to send a notice of right to cure before filing suit. Notably absent from those two reasons was PRA's new argument about federal preemption. Therefore, federal preemption was not "any reason appearing in the record on appeal" to support the trial court's ruling or to allow that new issue to be raised for the first time on appeal. It seems odd that PRA chose to cite the 1886 case of *Ketchin v. McCarley* in footnote 5 in support of its argument (App. p. 553), instead of the more modern and more frequently cited *I'on L.L.C. v Town of Mt. Pleasant* case cited above. However, reference to the *I'on* case reveals the following statement:

The basis for respondent's additional sustaining grounds must appear in the record on appeal, but other requirements contained in former rules and pre-1990 precedent no longer apply. (citations omitted) ... The appellate court may review respondent's additional reasons and, if convinced it is proper and fair to do so, rely on them or any other reason appearing in the record to affirm the lower court's judgment. An appellate court may not rely on Rule 220(c), SCACR, when the reason does not appear in the record, or when the court believes it would be unwise or unjust to do so in a particular case. It is within the appellate court's discretion whether to address any additional sustaining grounds. [9]

*I'on* at page 420. Regarding PRA's new argument about significant impairment under S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-109(2), Campney does not see where this reason appears in the record on appeal either. However, unlike the federal preemption argument, PRA does not acknowledge this as a new argument. Nevertheless, it appears that all of the new arguments identified above are just as infirm as the federal preemption argument, and for the same reasons. The Court of Appeals, therefore, properly chose to ignore them when

issuing its Opinion.

**3. PRA violated Campney's procedural due process rights by raising the new appellate arguments in an untimely fashion.**

The doctrine of procedural due process requires both adequate notice of any arguments that PRA might make in an appeal and a meaningful opportunity to be heard when responding to those arguments. *Huellmantel v. Greenville Hospital System*, 303 S.C. 549, 553, 402 SE 2d 489 (Ct. App. 1991)(citing U.S. Supreme Court cases). Since PRA did not include these new arguments in its Final Brief filed in the Court of Appeals, Campney did not have an opportunity to respond in her Reply Brief. Since Campney was forced by the Court of Appeals' denial of Campney's Motion in Limine to respond only orally to these substantial new arguments in less than 20 minutes at oral argument, Campney did not have a meaningful opportunity to be heard on the new arguments. Moreover, the process was fundamentally unfair since PRA suffered no similar limitations when PRA was given 30 days to respond to the SCDCA amicus brief in writing. Also, as to any new arguments indicated above that weren't raised until PRA's Petition for Rehearing, Campney wasn't even provided adequate due process notice of those arguments, let alone a meaningful opportunity to respond. Campney, therefore, believes that procedural due process concerns also could have been a reason why the Court of Appeals properly chose to ignore PRA's new arguments on appeal.

**C. The Court of Appeals Had Discretion to Ignore PRA's New Arguments**

If for any reason this Court believes that the Court of Appeals was not required to ignore PRA's new arguments raised for the first time after appeal, the Court of Appeals still had discretion to choose to ignore those new arguments, and this Court should do the same. PRA's

Court of Appeals Brief in Response to SCDCA does not properly state in the Issues on Appeal section of that brief PRA's additional sustaining grounds that PRA argues in its brief. Regarding an appellant's brief, "[o]rdinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal." Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR. "The respondent is not required to set out a separate statement of the issues on appeal in his brief, unless the respondent is dissatisfied with the appellant's statement of the issues. Rule 208(b)(2), SCACR. In addition to restating the issues, the respondent can also identify other issues that may provide a basis for affirmance. *Id.*; see Rule 220(c), SCACR; *I'on, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000)." Jean Hoefler Toal, *et al.*, *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* p. 429 (3<sup>rd</sup> ed. 2016). Reference to the Issues on Appeal section of PRA's Court of Appeals Final Brief of Respondent shows that the only relevant issue to PRA's current appeal as was listed by PRA was Issue 2, which was listed as follows: "DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ENTERING JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF PRA ON APPELLANT'S COUNTERCLAIMS? (App. p. 472). Even referring to the itemized breakdown of that issue in PRA's Table of Contents does not show that the new arguments raised on appeal were included in PRA's stated issues. (App. pp. 467-468). Even if the Court were to consider PRA's later Respondent's Brief in Response to SCDCA, PRA states as the only issue on appeal the following: "DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN RULING THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSUMER PROTECTION CODE DOES NOT APPLY TO AN ASSIGNEE'S COLLECTION ON A CONSUMER CREDIT CARD DEBT?" (App. p. 549). PRA does not separately identify any other issues. Campney, therefore, believes that the Court of Appeals had discretion not to consider PRA's new arguments, since that is how Campney believes the court would treat an appellant's failure to separately state any issues in the

Statement of Issues on Appeal. Similarly, this statement of the issues on appeal by PRA does not include the new significant impairment argument either, so this argument should not be considered by the court as well due to that failure. Indeed, the Supreme Court appears to adopt this reading of the appellate rules in the *I'on* case cited above, at page 420, where this Court cites Rule 208(b)(1)(B) in reference to a respondent's duty to state additional sustaining grounds in its issues on appeal.

If for any reason the Court of Appeals believed that it was not improper for PRA to raise any of these new arguments on appeal at the time PRA raised them, the court could have recognized, as Campney asked them to do in her Motion in Limine, based on the *I'on* case cited above, at page 420, that the court still had discretion to choose not to address these new arguments on appeal, since neither Campney nor amicus SCDCA were given an opportunity to respond in writing to the arguments. Campney believes that this Court will have better opportunities to explore these new arguments in future cases where these issues have been properly raised and ruled upon in the trial court.<sup>5</sup> Indeed, as this Court further stated in the *I'on* case cited above, at page 421:

[i]n clarifying the law, we do not mean to dilute the important principle that all parties should raise all necessary issues and arguments to the lower court and attempt to obtain a ruling. While the current rules do not require the respondent to present an issue to the lower court in order to raise it as an additional sustaining ground, an appellate court is less likely to rely on such a ground when the respondent has failed to present it to the lower court. In such cases, the appellate court likely would perceive it as being unfair or unwise to resolve a case on a ground never mentioned by the respondent prior to appeal. Stated another way, the respondent may raise an additional sustaining ground that was not even presented to the lower court, but the appellate court is likely to ignore it.[11]

---

<sup>5</sup> In a pending debt collection case in Berkeley County that has not yet gone to trial, PRA has filed an exact copy of its Brief in Response to SCDCA raising most of the same new arguments it has raised after briefing was complete in this case. *See* PRA v. Chambers, Case No. 2014CP0802072, PRA Response to MSJ, Exh. 4, filed on 11-30-22.

Therefore, it is likely that the Court of Appeals believed that it was improper for PRA to raise these new issues on appeal, and properly chose to ignore them based on their discretion to do so. Respondent requests that this Court find that as to the new arguments that PRA has raised on appeal that PRA's Petition for Certiorari was improvidently granted. Alternatively, this Court should choose to ignore these new arguments, as the Court of Appeals did, for the reasons stated above.

### **CONCLUSION**

Respondent Campney, therefore, requests that this Court grant the following relief:

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